COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, APPELLANT

v.

TANYA JAMES-BUHL, RESPONDENT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Brian Tollefson

No. 15-1-03708-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JASON RUYF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR.

Were defendant's charges for failing to fulfill her obligation to report the sexual abuse of her own daughters wrongly dismissed based on a misreading of RCW 26.44.030(1)(a) that permitted a mandatory reporter—a teacher entrusted to protect children—to keep quiet about child-sex abuse occurring in her own home?

B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF</u> ERROR

- 1. Did the trial court undermine the omnipresent duty to report imposed by RCW 26.44.030(1)(a)'s plain language when it read an implied "course of employment" exception into the text that confounds the statute's purpose of protecting children?
- 2. Was subpart (1)(d)'s more general reporting duty wrongly read as superseding the specific duty (1)(a) places on professionals most likely to discover child abuse and best equipped to protect abused children through timely intervention?

3. Is the trial court's restrictive reading of (1)(a) at odds with the legislative intent for a statute that has expanded the duty to report rather than exempt from its reach professionals who would prefer not to protect children though timely reporting?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>.

1. Procedure

Defendant was charged with three counts of failure to comply with the mandatory reporting law for being a teacher who failed to report what she knew about sexual abuse her three daughters suffered at the hands of her husband. CP 1-6. The trial court granted defendant's motion to dismiss for "all the reasons" she stated, but predominantly on a theory her mandatory reporter status under RCW 26.44.030(1)(a) did not extend to information about child sex abuse that came to her outside the scope of her employment. According to the trial court, only the less onerous reporting requirement RCW 26.44.030(1)(d) imposes on adult caregivers of severely abused children applied. RP (12/2/15) 21-22; CP 39-41. Undisputed findings of fact were entered without conclusions of law. CP 42-46.

2. Facts

On or about the period between January 1, 2015, and May 20, 2015, defendant was a middle school teacher, mother of three girls, and the wife of a man she had reason to believe was sexually abusing them. CP 1-3, 42-43. Despite defendant's status as a mandatory reporter under RCW 26.44.030(1)(a), police first learned of the abuse through a pastor's CPS report. CP1. According to the pastor, defendant's daughter M.E.B. disclosed being molested by her stepfather, defendant's husband Joshua Hodges. CP 1. M.E.B. told defendant Hodges had been touching her. CP 1. Instead of reporting the abuse, defendant decided to handle the issue in house through a strategy that included keeping quiet about abuse she admittedly would have "probably" reported if it had been disclosed to her by a student. CP 1-2. M.E.B.'s forensic interview revealed Hodges had been touching her vaginal, anal, and chest area. CP 1, 43. The touching began when she was thirteen. CP1, 43. Most of it occurred in Hodges' room. CP1. That abuse went on in roughly five month intervals. CP 1-2. Nothing changed in the home after she told defendant about the abuse; rather than intervene, defendant allowed Hodges to be alone with her. CP 2, 43.

Tragically, M.E.B. was not the only child in the home experiencing sexual abuse that defendant failed to report. CP 2. Hodges first snuck into

the room of defendant's eldest daughter, B.J-K., when she was sixteen, CP 2, 44. B.J-K. told defendant what was happening, told defendant she did not feel safe, but aside from confronting Hodges, defendant made no real changes in the home. CP 2, 44. Forensic interviews of her daughters M.M.B. and K.B. revealed even more preventable abuse and even more inaction on defendant's part. CP 2, 44. When M.M.B. was eleven, she awoke to Hodges rubbing her buttocks under her clothing. CP 2, 44-45. Defendant refused to install the bedroom-door lock M.M.B said she needed to feel safer. CP 2, 44-45. Meanwhile, K.B. disclosed Hodges was touching her, to include her vaginal area, once every two or three weeks. CP 3, 45. She told defendant about the touching, but again, defendant failed to report the abuse or otherwise protect her daughter and continued to facilitate Hodges' access to her. CP 3, 45. Because of a report made by a third party more protective of defendant's daughters than she was, Hodges is being held accountable for his crimes. CP 1, 43.

D. ARGUMENT.

1. DEFENDANT'S CHARGES FOR FAILING TO FULFILL HER OBLIGATION TO REPORT THE SEXUAL ABUSE OF HER DAUGHTERS WERE WRONGLY DISMISSED **BASED** ON MISREADING OF RCW 26.44.030(1)(a), WHICH, IF ADOPTED, WILL PERMIT MANDATORY REPORTERS LIKE HER TO KEEP QUIET ABOUT THE CHILD-SEX ABUSE THEY DISCOVER OUTSIDE OFFICE HOURS AND IN THEIR OWN HOMES.

Teachers perform a task "that goes to the heart of representative government." *Ambach v. Nowick*, 441 U.S. 68, 75-76, 99 S. Ct. 1589 (1979). They "serv[e] as a role model[s] for ... students, exerting ... subtle but important influence over their perceptions and values." *Id.* at 78-79. Their status affords them unique opportunities to interact with children in their communities. *State v. Clinkenbeard*, 130 Wn. App. 522, 567, 123 P.3d 872 (2005). They are carefully vetted state certified professionals in frequent contact with at-risk-youth. *Beggs v. State, Dept. Social & Health Services*, 171 Wn.2d 69, 80, 247 P.3d 421 (2011); RCW 28A.410.010; WAC 181-79A-150. To earn certification, teachers complete a course on "identif[ying] ... physical [and] sexual abuse.... RCW 28A.410.035. In those respects, teachers are similar to the small cadre of professionals also bound by an omnipresent duty to report reasonably believed child abuse:

(1)(a) When any practitioner, county coroner or medical examiner, law enforcement officer, professional school personnel, registered or licensed nurse, social service counselor, psychologist, pharmacist, employee of the department of early learning, licensed or certified child care providers or their employees, employee of the department, juvenile probation officer, placement and liaison specialist, responsible living skills program staff, HOPE center staff, or state family and children's ombuds or any volunteer in the ombuds's office has reasonable cause to believe that a child has suffered abuse or neglect, he or she shall report such incident, or cause a report to be made, to the proper law enforcement agency or to the department as provided in RCW 26.44.040.

Id. (emphasis added); RCW 26.44.020(19). "Reasonable Cause" means a person witnesses or receives a credible written or oral report alleging abuse" RCW 26.44.020(1)(b)(iii). Professionals named in subpart (1)(a) are set apart from other service providers whose duty to report is limited to information obtained in an "official supervisory capacity" or "course of employment." *E.g.*, RCW 26.44.030(1)(b), (1)(c).

Despite those striking differences in the statute's design, dismissal of defendant's charges was predicated on the trial court reading an implied "course of employment" exception, like the one provided in subpart (1)(c), into subpart (1)(a). This appeal calls upon the Court to interpret the scope of subpart (1)(a)'s reporting requirement. Appellate courts review a trial court's reading of a statute de novo. Doe v. Corporation of President of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, 141 Wn. App. 407, 424,

167 P.3d 1193 (2007). "When statutory language is clear, [it is] assume[d] ... the Legislature meant ... what it said," so the plain language is applied. *Id.* "If [the] language is ambiguous, the statute [is] construed ... to effectuate legislative intent." *Id.*; *Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys.*, 146 Wn.2d 841, 852, 50 P.3d 256 (2002)). Ambiguity exists when language is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation. *Id.* "A possible but strained interpretation is not reasonable and will not render a statute ambiguous." *State v. Johnson*, 159 Wn. App. 766, 770, 247 P.3d 11 (2011).

a. RCW 26.44.030(1)(a)'s plain language imposes an omnipresent duty to report.

"[Courts] cannot add ... clauses to an unambiguous statute"

State v. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 723, 730, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). Adhering to
"expressio unius est exclusio alterius," courts presume the Legislature
deliberately excluded absent language given its presumed awareness of the
legal framework into which new law is enacted. Id. at 729; Maziar v.
Washington State Dep't of Corr., 183 Wn.2d 84, 89, 349 P.3d 826 (2015).
A statute's plain meaning is given effect as the expression of legislative
intent. State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596, 600, 115 P.3d 281 (2005). Plain
meaning is discerned from language's ordinary usage, the statute's context,
and the statutory scheme's related provisions. Id. In ascertaining legislative

purpose, provisions which stand *in pari materia* are to be read together as a unified whole, so a harmonious statutory scheme evolves that maintains the integrity of the respective provisions. *State v. Wright*, 84 Wn.2d 645, 650, 529 P.2d 453, 457 (1974). Interpretations leading to constitutional deficiencies or absurd results should be avoided. *State v. Eaton*, 168 Wn.2d 476, 480, 229 P.3d 704 (2010); *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003); *Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d at 733. When interpreting statutes explicit in scope, "court[s] act within ... well-defined constraints." *United States v. Rutherford*, 442 U.S. 544, 552, 99 S. Ct. 2470 (1979).

By design, RCW 26.44.030 creates different duties to report along a clearly defined continuum. Mandatory reporting is at its zenith in subpart (1)(a), which provides for an omnipresent duty to report triggered by the lowest level of detectable abuse provided for in the statute. Nothing in subpart (1)(a)'s language limits the duty once a designated professional has reasonable cause to believe a child is being abused. Its language is simple. It designates fifteen professions. It creates an evidentiary standard. It designates a triggering quantum of abuse. And it imposes a mandatory duty with the imperative "shall." *See Lietz v. Hansen Law Offices*, P.S.C., 166 Wn. App. 571, 594, 271 P.3d 899 (2012) (citing *State v. Krall*, 125 Wn.2d 513, 518, 852 P.2d 1040 (1994)).

Subpart (1)(a)'s structure is incapable of supporting a "course of employment" exception. The structure is that of a conditional sentence. It creates an if-then relationship between a conditional clause with three conjunctive terms that trigger the main clause's duty. Abstractly stated: When A and B and C, then D; where "A" represents the main-clause triggering status of membership in the designated professional class; "B" is the standard of proof; C is the triggering quantum of abuse; and "D" is the main clause's duty to report.

There is no "course of employment" exception in subpart (1)(a), which distinguishes (1)(a) from its neighbors. Subpart (1)(b) limits its duty to abuse learned of "in [an] official supervisory capacity," unless a (1)(b) supervisor is a (1)(a) professional; in which case, (1)(a)'s omnipresent duty controls. A similar "course of ... employment" exception in (1)(c) limits the reporting required of DOC personnel. The presence of these exceptions shows the Legislature knew how to limit (1)(a) reporting to a (1)(a) professionals' "course of employment," but deliberately did not. This reading accords with the interpretive rule that inclusion of express exceptions typically prevents unmentioned ones from being read into the text. United States v. Brockamp, 519 U.S. 347, 352, 117 S. Ct. 849 (1997); Stephens v. Clash, 796 F.3d 281, 292 (3rd Cir. 2015); Doe v. Salvation Army, 685 F.3d 564, 573 (6th Cir. 2012).

"Exceptions to clearly delineated statutes will be implied *only* where essential to prevent absurd results or consequences obviously at variance with the policy of the enactment as a whole." *Rutherford*, 442 U.S. at 552. (emphasis added). The trial court's reading of (1)(a) deviated from this rule without legitimate cause. There is nothing absurd about protecting all children by imposing a heightened duty to report on a narrow class of professionals equipped to protect them. At the same time imposing (1)(a) reporting on (1)(a) professionals outside the scope of their professional services only advances the statutory purpose of protecting children by "prevent[ing] further abuse." RCW 26.44.010. Conversely, excusing (1)(a) professionals from their reporting requirement in off duty hours will only result in some children failing to receive the abuse ending intervention (1)(a) was so clearly designed to ensure.

Still, the trial court read a "course of employment" exception into (1)(a), stating the Legislature must be "real clear" to create an omnipresent duty to report for (1)(a) professionals. RP(12/2/15) 21. But (1)(a) is in many ways a model of clarity. It imposes a mandatory duty through a conditional sentence without the course of service limitations carved out for (1)(b)-(1)(c) occupations. The only way (1)(a) could be clearer is through recitation of inapplicable exceptions. But the point of unqualified language is to produce unqualified coverage. See A. Scalia & B. Garner,

Reading Law: *The Interpretation of Legal Texts* 101 (2012). Such language is useful precisely because it can succinctly express a duty resistant to the imposition of unintended *ad hoc* exceptions.

The challenged reading of RCW 26.44.030 is also problematic in its deviation from the interpretive rule that specific provisions control over general ones. *Anderson v. Dussault*, 181 Wn.2d 360, 371, 333 P.3d 395 (2014); *Diaz v. State*, 175 Wn.2d 457, 470, 285 P.3d 873 (2012); *Miller v. Sybouts*, 97 Wn.2d 445, 448, 645 P.2d 1082 (1982). According to the trial court, the general reporting duty (1)(d) imposes on any adult residing with a severely abused child controls over the specific (1)(a) duty imposed on professionals equipped to recognize and respond to less obvious abuse. RP (12/2/15) 21; CP 40. Instead of serving (1)(a)'s protective purpose, the preeminence given to (1)(d) by the trial court permits professionals who hold special positions of public trust with respect to all children to remain silent about off-the-clock discoveries of their own children's abuse.

What statutory purpose is served by permitting professionals charged with protecting children to keep quiet about any child's abuse? There is no obvious reason to extend to (1)(a) professionals the tolerance for reporting failures (1)(d) extends to adults incapable of reporting. That safe harbor makes sense when applied to isolated adults that might be held captive by the very person abusing the child. Although (1)(a) professionals

are not immune to domestic violence, they can be rightly called upon to rise above personal concerns to protect their own children, or the children of others, on account of special training, experience and position within the fabric of the state's social safety net. The law can and should expect more of professionals regularly called upon to mobilize resources that may understandably seem beyond the reach of an average adult.

Courts should "resist ... temptation[s] to rewrite ... unambiguous statute[s] to suit ... notions of ... good public policy...." *State v. Jackson*, 137 Wn.2d 712, 725, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999). Comments made by the trial court implied discomfort extending (1)(a)'s reporting duty to "a doctor, or a county corner, or a law enforcement officer" RP (12/2/15) 21. The perception (1)(a) would be overly broad if literally applied cannot serve as the basis to fashion a narrower construction; such a defect—if defect it is—must be legislatively corrected, even where unduly harsh. *Sedima v. Imrex Co., Inc.*, 473 U.S. 479, 496-500, 105 S. Ct. 3275 (1985); *Stroh Brewery Co. v. State Dep't of Revenue*, 104 Wn. App. 235, 239-40, 15 P.3d 692 (2001); *Duke v. Boyd*, 133 Wn.2d 80, 87, 942 P.2d 351 (1997)). Subpart (1)(a) professionals who find it uncomfortable to abide by an omnipresent duty to protect every child through timely reporting remain free to transition into occupations governed by less onerous provisions.

Only good will come from leaving (1)(a) professions to people committed to protecting children regardless of the circumstances.

b. The challenged reading of (1)(a) is also at odds with the statute's history.

Legislative intent can be revealed through the legislative history of prior enactments. Hallauer v. Spectrum Properties., Inc., 143 Wn.2d 126, 146, 18 P.3d 540 (2001); Tunstall v. Bergeson, 141 Wn.2d 201, 211, 5 P.3d 691 (2001); Ropo v. City of Seattle, 67 Wn.2d 574, 577, 409 P.2d 148 (1965). This is because a legislature is presumed to enact new legislation with prior legislation in mind. State v. Robertson, 88 Wn. App. 836, 848-49, 947 P.2d 765 (1997). Interpreting the purpose of a previous mandatory reporting statute, our Supreme Court explained: "The [L]egislature ... made clear ... prevention of child abuse is of the highest priority, and all instances of [it] must be reported to the proper authorities who should ... expeditiously take appropriate action." C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop, 138 Wn.2d 699, 727, 985 P.2d 262 (1999); LAWS of 1985, ch.259 (legis. findings appended to RCW 26.44.030)). The Court recognized: "The reporting statute is designed to secure prompt protection ... of the victims of child abuse. The class of persons it is designed to protect is the victims, not the abusers." Beggs, 171 Wn.2d at 77; State v. Warner, 125 Wn.2d 876, 891, 889 P.2d 479 (1995).

A survey of RCW 26.44.030 shows the Legislature increased the reporting obligations on (1)(a) professionals to expand the reach of the protection promised by the statute. As enacted, the section only applied to practitioners and created a right to report. LAWS of 1965 c 13 § 3. Under subpart (1), the right was triggered when the minor was "brought before" "or ... found" by the practitioner "or c[a]m[e] to him for examination, care or treatment." *Id.* Subpart (2) triggered a second right to report when the minor was attended to "as part of ... regular duties." *Id.* At enactment, the provision comprehensively extended the right to all contact through the unqualified conditions: "brought before" or "found" and captured "course of employment" contacts through the limited condition: "coming to ... for examination, care, or treatment" in subpart (1) and "regular duties" in subpart (2). *Id.* The manifest intent was to free the professional to report child abuse irrespective of the means of discovery. This first version of the

LAWS of 1965 c 13 § 3: (1) When any practitioner has cause to believe that a child under the age of eighteen years brought before him or coming to him for examination,

(2) When a practitioner is attending a child under the age of eighteen years as part of

care, or treatment has had physical injury or injuries inflicted upon him, other than by accidental means, or who is found to be suffering from physical neglect, or sexual abuse, he may report such incident or cause a report to be made to the proper law enforcement agency as provided in RCW 26.44.040. (emphasis added)

his regular duties as a staff member of an institution and has cause to believe that such child has had physical injury or injuries inflicted upon him other than by accidental means or who is found to be suffering from physical neglect, or sexual abuse, he may notify the person in charge of the institution or his designated representative, who may

report the incident or cause such reporting to be made as provided in RCW 26.44.040. (emphasis added)

statute showed "course of employment" or "regular duties" exceptions were included or excluded as needed to accomplish legislative intent.

LAWS of 1969 ex.s. c. 35 § 3 rewrote the section.² The revision expanded the statute's reach to other professionals, including teachers. *Id.* Subpart (1) replaced the dichotomy created by the unqualified "brought before"/"found" conditions and qualified "coming to for [service]" condition with one sentence capturing the breadth of the predecessor's "brought before"/"found" conditions. A logical interpretation is the Legislature recognized the universal coverage of the "brought before"/"found" language made the "coming to [for service]" language redundant and preferred universal coverage, so rewrote the provision to ensure the right to report would not be confined by the circumstances under which abuse became known. Subpart (2) provided a qualified right

_

² <u>LAWS of 1969 ex.s. c. 35 § 3</u>: (1) When any practitioner, professional school personnel, registered nurse, social worker, psychologist, pharmacist, clergyman or employee of the department of public assistance has reasonable cause to believe that a child has died or has had physical injury or injuries inflicted upon him, other than by accidental means, or is found to be suffering from physical neglect, or sexual abuse, he may report such incident or cause a report to be made to the proper law enforcement agency or to the department of public assistance as provided in RCW 26.44.040.

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