NO. 48393-9-II

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2016 AUG 2 AM 10:11

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY DEPOSIT

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

v.

TANYA JAMES-BUHL

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Brian Tollefson Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 15-1-03708-2

RESPONDENT'S REPLY TO BRIEF OF APPELLANT

By
Barbara Corey
Attorney for Appellant
WSB #11778

902 South 10th Street
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 779-0844

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

C. LAW AND ARGUMENT

1. THIS APPEAL MUST BE DISMISSED BECAUSE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO ASSIGN ERROR TO THE TRIAL COURT'S DISMISSAL OF THIS CASE WITH PREJUDICE AS WELL AS THE CONCLUSIONS OF LAW THEREIN.

The State has not challenged the trial court's order of dismissal *with prejudice* to Ms. James-Buhl. State's Opening brief 1-2.

The trial court's reasoning is unchallenged in this appeal. The trial court correctly found that RCW 26.44.030 (1)(d) imposes upon "any adult" who resides in a home with a child a mandatory duty to report abuse. There are no limitations in this reporting requirement regarding time and place. Therefore, the mandatory requirement is every bit as "omnipresent" as appellant contends is RCW 26.44.030(1)(a). Specifically, in the order of dismissal with prejudice, the trial court made the following finding of fact: "Ms. James-Buhl was not required to make a mandatory report in this case because she did not have a teacher/professional school personnel relationship with

them [her minor daughters who resided in her home].” CP 40, lines 21-22. The court further found that Ms. James-Buhl had a mandatory reporting requirement under RCW 26.44.030[1][d], and that under the rules of statutory construction, giving meaning to each section and harmonizing the provisions as to avoid absurd results, RCW 26.44.030[1][d] applied to Ms. James-Buhl in this case. CP 40, lines 13-23.

The trial court then dismissed this case with prejudice. CP 41, line 3. Again, appellant made no assignment of error to this dismissal without prejudice.

2 THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION TO RCW 26.44.030, WHICH IMPOSES REPORTING REQUIREMENTS ON NUMEROUS INDIVIDUALS IN ADDITION TO TEACHERS.

In 1965, the Washington State Legislature enacted RCW 26.44, then entitled Abuse of Children and Dependent Persons. The Legislature’s intent was set forth in RCW 26.44.010:

26.44.010. Declaration of purpose.

The Washington state legislature finds and declares: The bond between a child and his or her parent, custodian, or guardian is of paramount importance, and any intervention into the life of a child is also an intervention into the life of the parent, custodian, or guardian; however, instances of nonaccidental injury, neglect, death, sexual abuse and cruelty to children by

their parents, custodians or guardians have occurred, and in the instance where a child is deprived of his or her right to conditions of minimal nurture, health, and safety, the state is justified in emergency intervention based upon verified information; and therefore the Washington state legislature hereby provides for the reporting of such cases to the appropriate public authorities. It is the intent of the legislature that, as a result of such reports, protective services shall be made available in an effort to prevent further abuses, and to safeguard the general welfare of such children. When the child's physical or mental health is jeopardized, or the safety of the child conflicts with the legal rights of a parent, custodian, or guardian, the health and safety interests of the child should prevail. When determining whether a child and a parent, custodian, or guardian should be separated during or immediately following an investigation of alleged child abuse or neglect, the safety of the child shall be the department's paramount concern. Reports of child abuse and neglect shall be maintained and disseminated with strictest regard for the privacy of the subjects of such reports and so as to safeguard against arbitrary, malicious or erroneous information or actions. This chapter shall not be construed to authorize interference with child-raising practices, including reasonable parental discipline, which are not proved to be injurious to the child's health, welfare and safety.

To accomplish the intent of RCW 26.44, the Legislature enacted RCW

26.44.030, identifying mandatory reporters and their duties:

26.44.030. Reports -- Duty and authority to make -- Duty of receiving agency -- Duty to notify -- Case planning and consultation -- Penalty for unauthorized exchange of information -- Filing dependency petitions -- Investigations -- Interviews of children -- Records -- Risk assessment process.

(1)(a) When any practitioner, county coroner or medical examiner, law enforcement officer, *professional school personnel*, registered or licensed nurse, social service counselor, psychologist, pharmacist, employee of the department of early learning, licensed or certified child care providers or their employees, employee of the department, juvenile probation officer, placement and liaison specialist, responsible living skills program staff, HOPE center staff, state family and children's ombuds or any volunteer in the ombuds's office, or host home program has **reasonable cause** to believe that a child has suffered abuse or neglect, he or she shall report such incident, or cause a report to be made, to the proper law enforcement agency or to the department as provided in RCW 26.44.040. [emphasis added]

***Although applicable to subsection [b], the Legislature provided the following definition of "reasonable cause" in 26.44.040[b][iii]:*

(iii) "**Reasonable cause**" means a person witnesses or receives a credible written or oral report alleging abuse, including sexual contact, or neglect of a child.

(d) The reporting requirement shall also apply to **any adult who has reasonable cause to believe that a child who resides with them, has suffered severe abuse, and is able or capable of making a report.** For the purposes of this subsection, "severe abuse" means any of the following: Any single act of abuse that causes physical trauma of sufficient severity that, if left untreated, could cause death; any single act of sexual abuse that causes significant bleeding, deep bruising, or significant external or internal swelling; or more than one act of physical abuse, each of which causes bleeding, deep bruising, significant external or internal swelling, bone fracture, or unconsciousness. [emphasis added]

(e) The reporting requirement also applies to guardians ad litem, including court-appointed special advocates, . . .], who in the course of their representation of children in these actions have "**reasonable cause**" to believe a child has been abused or neglected.

(f) The reporting requirement in (a) of this subsection also applies to administrative and academic or athletic department

employees, including student employees, of institutions of higher education, as defined in RCW 28B.10.016, and of private institutions of higher education.

(g) The report must be made at the first opportunity, but in no case longer than forty-eight hours after there is reasonable cause to believe that the child has suffered abuse or neglect. The report must include the identity of the accused if known.

(3) Any other person who has "*reasonable cause*" to believe that a child has suffered abuse or neglect may report such incident to the proper law enforcement agency or to the department of social and health services as provided in RCW 26.44.040 section shall notify the victim, any persons the victim requests, and the local office of the department, of the decision to charge or decline to charge a crime, within five days of making the decision.

Pursuant to RCW 26.44.020[19], "Professional school personnel" include, but are not limited to, teachers, counselors, administrators, child care facility personnel, and school nurses.

Appellant incorrectly argues that teachers have an "omnipresent" duty to make a mandatory report that is not legislatively imposed on adults in RCW 26.44.030[d]. Simply put, adults who reside with children who have sustained the statutorily defined abuse likewise have an "omnipresent" duty to make a mandatory report.

Although the Legislature statutorily limited the reporting times for certain department of corrections personnel among the professionals who are mandated to report suspected abuse or neglect of children, dependent adults, or people with developmental disabilities to only those circumstances when the information is obtained during the course of their employment, the

Legislature clarified its' intent in a finding immediately following RCW 26.4.030 (1).³

In this case, the Superintendent of Public Instruction thus has altered current practices for mandated reporters such as teachers in a manner consistent with their ability to do so. *Id.* Further, should this court somehow find that the Superintendent of Public Instruction impermissibly altered its current practices, then the Washington Department of Public Instruction is at fault for providing misinformation to its education professionals, including teachers. Ms. James-Buhl adhered to her training and remains employed by the school district to this day. That speaks volumes about her compliance with the Washington Department of Public Instruction current practices for mandated reporters.

³ **Finding -- Intent -- 1996 c 278:**

"The legislature finds that including certain department of corrections personnel among the professionals who are mandated to report suspected abuse or neglect of children, dependent adults, or people with developmental disabilities is an important step toward improving the protection of these vulnerable populations. The legislature intends, however, to limit the circumstances under which department of corrections personnel are mandated reporters of suspected abuse or neglect to only those circumstances when the information is obtained during the course of their employment. **This act is not to be construed to alter the circumstances under which other professionals are mandated to report suspected abuse or neglect, nor is it the legislature's intent to alter current practices and procedures utilized by other professional organizations who are mandated reporters under RCW 26.44.030(1)(a).**" [1996 c 278 § 1.]

Appellant's reliance on RCW 28A.491.035, which requires teacher as part of their training to complete a class on the identification of physical and child abuse, is irrelevant to the issue before this court. This is so because this statute fails to address the mandatory reporting duties of teachers. At most, this statute exists to ensure that teachers have the ability to recognize physical and sexual abuse

3. THE RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION PLACE EQUAL OBLIGATIONS ON THE MANDATORY REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF TEACHERS AND ADULTS RESIDING WITH CHILDREN.

Under rules of statutory construction, the courts have a duty to harmonize statutes whenever possible. *Harmon v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs.*, 134 Wn.2d 523, 542, 951 P.2d 770 (1998). Thus courts read statutes as a whole to give effect to all of the language and to harmonize all provisions. *City of Seattle v. Fontanilla*, 128 Wn.2d 492, 498, 909 P.2d 1294 (1996). *City of Seattle v. Fontanilla*, 128 Wn.2d 492, 498, 909 P.2d 1294 [1996]. A statute must be construed as a whole so as to give effect to all language and to harmonize all provisions. *City of Seattle v. Fontanilla*, 128 Wn.2d 492, 498, 909 P.2d 1294 (1996).

The rule of statutory construction that trumps every other rule is that the court should not construe statutory language so as to result in absurd or strained consequences," *In re Custody of Smith*, 137 Wn.2d 1, 8, 969 P.2d 21 (1998); *Bour v. Johnson*, 122 Wn.2d 829, 835, 864 P.2d 380 (1993) statutes on the same subject matter must be read together to give each effect and to harmonize each with the other); *Leson v. State*, 72 Wn. App. 558, 563, 864 P.2d 384 (1993) (when two statutes appear to conflict, every effort should be made to harmonize their respective provisions). *Burgess v. Crossan*, 189 Wn. App. 97, 104; 358 P.3d 416 [2015].

An appellate court construes a statute to give meaning to legislative intent. *Christensen v. Ellsworth*, 162 Wn.2d 365, 372-73, 173 P.3d 228 [2007]. A court finds the plain meaning of statutory language by looking at the "the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which that provision is found, related provisions, and the [statutory scheme as a whole." 162 Wn.2d at 373. A reviewing court harmonizes statutory provisions and rules. *Id.*

In construing a statute, courts look to the legislature's intent. *State v. Faust*, 93 Wn. App. 373, 376, 967 P.2d 1284 (1998) (citing

State v. Williams, 62 Wn. App. 336, 338, 813 P.2d 1293 (1991)).

While “[p]lain language does not require construction,” *Faust*, 93 Wn. App. at 376 (citing *State v. Wilson*, 125 Wn.2d 212, 217, 883 P.2d 320 (1994)), “a statute that is susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations is ambiguous.” *Faust*, 93 Wn. App. at 376 (citing *State v. Sunich*, 76 Wn. App. 202, 206, 884 P.2d 1 (1994)). Under the rule of lenity, when a criminal statute is ambiguous and the legislative intent is insufficient to clarify it, the ambiguity must be resolved in favor of the accused. *In re Pers. Restraint of Hopkins*, 137 Wn.2d 897, 901, 976 P.2d 616 (1999); *State v. Padilla*, 95 Wn. App. 531, 534 n.2, 978 P.2d 1113 (1999) (citing *In re Post-Sentencing Review of Charles*, 135 Wn.2d 239, 250 n.4, 955 P.2d 798 (1998))

RCW 26.44 is a single chapter dealing with the abuse of children. In RCW 26.44.030, the statute sets forth the various individuals who are mandatory reporters. Neither 26.44.030[1][a] nor 26.44.030[1][d] have any time restriction on the individual’s mandatory reporting obligation. The reporter in RCW 26.44.030[1][a]’s actions are predicated on the “reasonable belief” standard. The reporter in RCW 26.44.030[1][d] actions are predicated

on “reasonable belief” that a child who resides with them has suffered severe abuse.

However, there is nothing in this subsection that prevents such adult from reporting “severe abuse” suffered by a child who resides with them even where the abuse has occurred, for example, at school, at day care, at a dental office, or anywhere in the community. This subsection imposes a duty on a parent or other adult with a child in home who has suffered “severe abuse.”

“Severe abuse” means any of the following: Any single act of abuse that causes physical trauma of sufficient severity that, if left untreated, could cause death; any single act of sexual abuse that causes significant bleeding, deep bruising, or significant external or internal swelling; or more than one act of physical abuse, each of which causes bleeding, deep bruising, significant external or internal swelling, bone fracture or unconsciousness. This subsection imposes the duty upon adults who are able to make a report, thereby acknowledging, for example, that some adults may not have access to a means to reports, may be prevented from reporting by another person or circumstance. Of course, even professionals in RCW 26.44.030[1][a] may find

themselves in situations where they are unable to report due lack of access to report or other circumstance.

Application of the rules of statutory construction to RCW 26.44.030 mandates that all of the subsections be read in harmony and with intent to give effect to each purpose.

There is nothing less omnipresent, to borrow appellant's phrase, in the duty of the adult in RCW 26.44.030[1][d] than in RCW 26.44.030[1][a]. Likewise, the WDE's interpretation of RCW 26.44.030[1][a] is permitted by statute. Ms. James-Buhl complied with both RCW 26.44.030[1] and RCW 26.44.030[d].

4. AT THE TIME APPELLANT CONTENDS MS JAMES-BUHL WAS REQUIRED TO MAKE A MANDATORY REPORT, SHE DID NOT HAVE "REASONABLE CAUSE" TO BELIEVE THAT HER DAUGHTERS HAD SUFFERED ABUSE OF NEGLECT UNDER EITHER RCW 26.44.030[1][a] or [1][d]

Appellant contends that Ms. James-Buhl violated RCW 26.44.030[1][a].

However, appellant inserts the State's own subjective belief that in May, 2015, Ms. James-Buhl had or "should have had" a reasonable belief that her daughters were being sexual abused in her home.

The State asserts that she was required as a teacher to make a mandatory report.

Of course, the “should have known” standard is not applicable in criminal prosecutions. *State v. Allen*, 182 Wn.2d 364, 341 P.3d 268 [2015].

Ms. James-Buhl spoke to her daughter MEB about her allegations of sexual abuse by her step-father in January 2015. In August 2015 MMB also told Ms. James-Buhl about some touching by her step father. BJ-K, another daughter reported that when she was 16, her step-father would get close to her and cuddle with her. This statement regarding an act of cuddling, without more, does not rise to the level of “reasonable belief” that *or receives a credible written or oral report alleging abuse, including sexual contact, or neglect of a child.*

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